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          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Good afternoon. My

          3  name is Christine Quinn. I'm Chair of the City

          4  Council's Health Committee, and I want to thank

          5  everyone for joining us here today. We've been

          6  joined by Council Member Kendall Stewart of

          7  Brooklyn, also a member of the Health Committee, and

          8  we'll be joined by other members of the Health

          9  Committee in a few minutes as the hearing begins.

         10                 We're here today to have our first

         11  hearing on Intro. 480, a bill that would create

         12  child fatality review advisory board teams.

         13                 The idea for this really came from a

         14  meeting that I had with Karel Amaranth, and folks at

         15  Montefiore Hospital, and I want to thank them for

         16  that very much.

         17                 They came in to brief me on what the

         18  state of child abuse and child abuse-related issues

         19  was at that point in the City and what could we be

         20  doing to do a better job protecting children and

         21  caring for the children in the City.

         22                 And I said at one point in the

         23  meeting, well, what else can we do? What do other

         24  people do? What do other cities do that we don't do?

         25  What more can we do? And Karel told me about these
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          2  child fatality review advisory teams, and told me

          3  how in other cities and states they had been very

          4  effective and very helpful in protecting children

          5  and identifying trends that were occurring that were

          6  causing children to die, and then, the most

          7  important part, helping those cities and states come

          8  up with policy ideas and budget and funding ideas

          9  that could get to the cause of those trends that

         10  were causing children to die unnecessarily.

         11                 We also talked about how a team like

         12  this could be helpful to people in the medical

         13  profession, particularly in emergency medicine, to

         14  help them better respond to children and their

         15  families when they come into the emergency room, or

         16  come into pediatricians offices. And to me that

         17  sounded like a great way to bring, a great way to

         18  better unite City agencies and advocacy groups in

         19  our efforts to protect children, and also a great

         20  way to be responding to trends and also helping

         21  medical professionals do their jobs better and learn

         22  from real unfortunate tragic experiences that are

         23  occurring out there.

         24                 I'm very proud that we introduced

         25  this bill. The original sponsors of the bill are
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          2  myself, Council Member Bill DeBlasio, who chairs our

          3  General Welfare Committee, Council Member Diana

          4  Reyna, Miguel Martinez, Domenic Recchia and Annabel

          5  Palma were the lead sponsors of this bill.

          6                 Now, as I said, many other cities and

          7  states have similar initiatives.

          8                 In Philadelphia, there is a

          9  Philadelphia Interdisciplinary Youth Fatality Team.

         10  And Gelvina Stevenson, the counsel to our Committee

         11  went down and actually sat in on some of the Child

         12  Fatality Reviews that that team did, and from the

         13  information we received from that experience we were

         14  even more interested in moving forward with this

         15  idea here in the City.

         16                 And before we begin the testimony

         17  from the Administration, I'm actually going to read

         18  into the record part of a letter of support from Pat

         19  West, the Chair of the Philadelphia Team, as well as

         20  a letter from a Philadelphia Medical Examiner in

         21  support of our legislation.

         22                 I also want to add that our bill,

         23  we've been drafting the bill in very close contact

         24  with folks on the State level, and they have been

         25  enormously helpful in refining our bill from a
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          2  technical perspective. Because when we do this, we

          3  believe if we write this bill continuing with the

          4  advice of the State, our bill will technically, our

          5  team would end up being a state certified team, so

          6  to speak, which would create the possibility of us

          7  getting state money to help support the operation

          8  and work of the team.

          9                 The bills would stipulate that our

         10  team would meet at least four times a year, and

         11  would be comprised of representatives of State

         12  Office of Children and Family Services, a District

         13  Attorney's Office or Police Department, the Office

         14  of the Chief Medical Examiner, the Department of

         15  Health and Mental Hygiene, the Department of

         16  Education, the Public Advocate, a pediatrician, a

         17  child advocate and other representatives deemed

         18  appropriate by the team.

         19                 I just want to note that presently in

         20  the City our Agency for Children's Services has a

         21  similar, not identical, but a similar model and

         22  similar review that they do for the children who are

         23  in their care.

         24                 And I think if we look at the

         25  experience of that model, it has been quite
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          2  successful in helping ACS better protect and care

          3  for the children that they are charged with taking

          4  care of, and in some ways it's the success of that

          5  model that really leads myself and other Council

          6  members to believe we need to expand that to afford

          7  the similar level of oversight and protection and

          8  response to all of the children in the City of New

          9  York.

         10                 And in no way, I want to be clear,

         11  would this board attempt to supersede ACS's board.

         12  ACS should do and have structures that they think

         13  are appropriate for children within their care.

         14  We're really trying to build on their experience and

         15  the experience of other cities to help care for and

         16  protect and respond as it relates to other children

         17  beyond those that are in the care of ACS.

         18                 As I said, I want to read a part of a

         19  letter that was sent to us by Pat West, who is the

         20  Chair of the Philadelphia Interagency Fatality

         21  Review Team, and Herish Merchandani (phonetic), Dr.

         22  Herish Merchandani, who is the Chief Medical

         23  Examiner of the City of Philadelphia. I'm just going

         24  to read portions.

         25                 The Philadelphia, the PIYFRT, which
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          2  they have an acronym for that in Philadelphia, they

          3  should be credited. "The PIYFRT has been fortunate

          4  to have close cooperation of leadership across City

          5  agencies from the District Attorney, Child

          6  Protective Services, Pediatric community to the

          7  School Superintendent, but most importantly, the

          8  support of the forensic pathologist investigators

          9  within the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner is

         10  fundamental Death Review Team successful.

         11                 Our team reviews all deaths of

         12  children, birth through age 19, regardless of cause

         13  or manner of death. Last year we reviewed

         14  approximately 350 deaths.

         15                 At our monthly meeting today of the

         16  non-homicide committee, we reviewed 35 deaths that

         17  occurred mostly in January 2004. This retrospective

         18  review allows the active investigation to be

         19  completed before the team meets.

         20                 Without violating the confidentiality

         21  of these families and children, one was a premature

         22  baby delivered in an abandoned crack house, another

         23  was a house fire death where the apartment building

         24  had no working smoke detector. Another was an

         25  undetermined manner of death that will now be
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          2  amended to homicide, and, finally, a teenager with

          3  an untreated medical condition who died at home

          4  weighing less than most eight-year-olds.

          5                 At today's meeting, about 30 percent

          6  of the cases required the scientific knowledge base

          7  of the medical examiner or his staff to effectively

          8  understand the forensics. For example, how the

          9  carbon monoxide level in a fire death translates to

         10  circumstances of a particular death.

         11                 I apologize that other commitments

         12  prevented us from making this presentation to you in

         13  person, and from being able to answer your

         14  questions. However, we want to express our

         15  conviction that you are pursuing a most imperative

         16  project, which is increasingly valuable as resources

         17  become even more limited. Understanding the

         18  epidemiology of your child's death is the essential

         19  first step in assigning resources to target and

         20  prevent future deaths.

         21                 Should you have any further

         22  questions..." Et cetera, et cetera, Pat West, Chair

         23  of the Philadelphia Interagency Youth Fatality

         24  Review Team, and Dr. Herish Merchandani, Chief

         25  Medical Examiner of the City of Philadelphia.
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          2                 We've been joined by Council Member

          3  Yvette Clarke of Brooklyn, also a member of the

          4  Committee.

          5                 So, I hope today's hearing will be

          6  our first hearing and another step in the dialogue

          7  of moving forward to have these teams exist in the

          8  City. And I think as you can tell from the letter

          9  from Philadelphia, these teams can be enormously

         10  helpful, and also it's critical for them to be

         11  successful, to have cooperation between the

         12  Legislature, the City agencies, and the advocacy

         13  community.

         14                 That said, I'm going to turn it over

         15  to our first panel, which is comprised of Deputy

         16  Commissioner Lorna Thorpe of the Department of

         17  Health and Mental Hygiene, Dr. Monica Smiddy from

         18  the Chief Medical Examiner's Office, and Deputy

         19  Commissioner Joe Cardieri, did I say that right? Of

         20  the Agency for Children's Services.

         21                 And if you all have written

         22  testimony, if you could please give that to the

         23  Sergeant so that we can distribute it. And if you

         24  will just state your name for the record before each

         25  of you testify.
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          2                 If the light is off, the mic is on.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Good

          4  afternoon, Chairperson Quinn, and members of the

          5  Health Committee. I appreciate being invited to talk

          6  on this important issue today.

          7                 I appear today to testify about

          8  Intro. No. 480 being considered by this Committee,

          9  which, if passed, will have an impact on the

         10  Administration for Children's Services.

         11                 Intro. 480 seeks to create a New York

         12  City Child Fatality Review Advisory Team, or Team,

         13  which would, amongst other duties, review the facts

         14  and circumstances of New York City children who die.

         15                 Children's Services has serious

         16  concerns about this bill, because Children's

         17  Services, and the New York State Office of Children

         18  and Family Services already cover for children in

         19  foster care what this bill proposes.

         20                 Children Services has an

         21  accountability review team and OCFS has a fatality

         22  review team, both of which investigate in detail

         23  case specifics around child deaths of children in

         24  foster care, which this bill would duplicate.

         25                 The accountability review panel, or
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          2  panel, is an independent oversight body that reviews

          3  child fatalities reported to the State Central

          4  Registry of Child Abuse and Maltreatment, for New

          5  York City families known to the Child Welfare

          6  system.

          7                 The panel reviews the quality of

          8  investigations, assessments and service delivery,

          9  identifies case-specific issues, and recommends ways

         10  to improve interventions and overall functioning in

         11  ACS and in other service systems.

         12                 New York City's approach to reviewing

         13  the deaths of children known to the child welfare

         14  system has been working for almost two decades.

         15                 In 1985, HRA, which was then

         16  responsible for overseeing child welfare services,

         17  convened an internal committee to review child

         18  fatality cases.

         19                 HRA reconfigured the review process

         20  by adding expert consultants from outside City

         21  government, and representatives of City agencies and

         22  entities, and created the fatality review panel in

         23  1988. And in 1997, ACS merged that fatality review

         24  panel with its newly created accountability review

         25  panel.
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          2                 The panel's 12 independent consultant

          3  experts represent a broad array of disciplines,

          4  including law, medicine, psychiatry, social work and

          5  public administration.

          6                 It's worth just taking a second to

          7  show you the range of the panel.

          8                 The panel members include a resident

          9  scholar at the American Enterprise Institute, the

         10  Director of Pediatric Surgical Services at Columbia

         11  University Harlem Hospital Center, a professor at

         12  Hunter College School of Social Work, Director of

         13  the Division of Adolescent Medicine at Mount Sinai

         14  Medical Center, an Associate Medical Director at the

         15  Sunset Park Family Health Center, the Psychiatric

         16  Director at Columbia University Children's Aid

         17  Society Community School Project, the Medical

         18  Director at the Children's Advocacy Center of

         19  Manhattan, a Professor of the College of Physicians

         20  and Surgeons at Columbia University, a consultant on

         21  health policy issues, a professor emeritus at the

         22  Fordham University Graduate School of Social

         23  Science, the Director of Mental Health at the New

         24  York City New York Children's Health Project, and

         25  from our private agencies, the Executive Director of
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          2  the Coalition for Hispanic Family Services.

          3                 In addition to that wide outside

          4  group, the panel also incorporates representatives

          5  from numerous City and State agencies and the

          6  courts.

          7                 These include experts who routinely

          8  review cases and discuss findings at our regular

          9  meetings, including the Executive Assistant to the

         10  Administrative Judge of the New York City Family

         11  Court, physicians from the Office of the New York

         12  City Chief Medical Examiner's Office, Assistant

         13  Director for Health and Human Services from the

         14  Mayor's Office of Operations, Senior Assistant Vice

         15  President for Clinical Affairs at the Health and

         16  Hospitals Corporation, and representatives from the

         17  Department of Education.

         18                 In addition, there are children's

         19  service representatives, including my position,

         20  General Counsel, the Deputy Commissioner over Family

         21  Court Legal Services, and the Director of the

         22  Children's Services Satterwhite Training Academy.

         23                 Children's Services administrators

         24  and senior staff attend panel meetings to provide

         25  background information. We prepare an annual report
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          2  of panel cases, trends and findings, which the

          3  independent panel then reviews, comments upon, and

          4  ultimately approves.

          5                 The panel in ACS consider the panel's

          6  work to be an important mechanism for improving case

          7  practice. The panel takes a unique and microscopic

          8  look at fatality cases with the considerable

          9  advantage of information gathered after a fatality

         10  and the benefits of hindsight.

         11                 The panel reviews child fatality

         12  cases in which, number one, the child's death was

         13  reported to the state central registry, as possibly

         14  resulting from abuse and neglect by the child's

         15  parent or caregiver.

         16                 And two, the child's family has a

         17  past history with ACS, within ten years, or was

         18  currently receiving children's services of some

         19  sort.

         20                 If a child's death is reported to the

         21  SCR as possibly relating to abuse and neglect, but

         22  the parents or guardian have no history with the

         23  SCR, the panel does not initiate a review of such

         24  case.

         25                 The Office of Children and Family
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          2  Services reviews those cases, as I'll detail further

          3  in my testimony.

          4                 The accountability review panel reads

          5  all applicable children's services, contract

          6  agencies and other case records. Where applicable,

          7  the panel interviews staff who worked with families

          8  and prepares an in-depth comprehensive case summary

          9  to be reviewed and later discussed at the case

         10  review meetings.

         11                 At the panel case review meetings,

         12  these cases are presented and discussed in depth by

         13  the group of experts noted above. Discussion is

         14  focused on case practice issues and recommendations

         15  for improvement in practice.

         16                 The panel also issues annual reports

         17  summarizing its findings for that year, and

         18  recommendations for case practice improvements.

         19                 The most recent report was issued for

         20  calendar year 2003, and was published in August of

         21  2004. This report reviewed the deaths of 24 children

         22  in 23 families with child welfare histories.

         23                 By looking at certain individual

         24  cases in-depth, the panel has been able to recommend

         25  changes in case practice.
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          2                 Such recommendations have included

          3  developing mechanisms to educate parents about baby

          4  and child safety, increasing staff training on

          5  working with men in families, increasing staff

          6  training on mental health issues, and strengthening

          7  training concerning domestic violence issues.

          8                 There have been numerous other child

          9  welfare recommendations, such as ensuring complete

         10  investigations and appropriate assessments of all

         11  cases, ensuring that staff has access to medical

         12  consultations, and ensuring that child protective

         13  managers review cases with multiple SCR reports,

         14  conduct multi-disciplinary reviews and guide staff

         15  in making appropriate service plans.

         16                 ACS's newly-created Division of

         17  Quality Assurance, which is under the Executive

         18  Deputy Commissioner for Child Welfare programs who

         19  is here today, Zanap Shaheen (phonetic), will be

         20  another mechanism for ACS to focus and incorporate

         21  into case practice and systems improvements, the

         22  valuable information learned from the individual

         23  case analysis comprising the panel review process.

         24                 The new Division of Quality Assurance

         25  will encompass all ACS current initiatives designed
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          2  to build, support and monitor the quality of

          3  services provided by both ACS and private agency

          4  partners.

          5                 In sum, the present independent

          6  Fatality Review Panel ensures an objective critical

          7  review of case practice in those cases falling under

          8  its ambit.

          9                 Certain types of child fatality cases

         10  involving children in foster care or known to the

         11  child welfare system, are not reviewed by the

         12  Accountability Review Panel, but are comprehensively

         13  reviewed by the OCFS fatality review team.

         14                 The New York State Social Services

         15  Law requires that whenever there is a death of a

         16  child who is in the custody of an authorized agency,

         17  or whenever there is a report to the SCR involving a

         18  child's death, OCFS must investigate or provide for

         19  an investigation of the cause of and circumstances

         20  surrounding the death, must review that

         21  investigation and must prepare and issue a report on

         22  such death.

         23                 OCFS's regional office is required to

         24  review all such child fatalities and issue a written

         25  report on their review within six months of a report
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          2  of the child set.

          3                 That report, of course, is shared

          4  with ACS for review and a times follow-up action.

          5                 Also, as required under state law,

          6  OCFS publishes annual reports which covers child

          7  fatalities that fall into two categories: One,

          8  reports to the SCR alleging that a child had died as

          9  a result of abuse or maltreatment at the hands of a

         10  caretaker; and two, children who died while in

         11  foster care; for example, those children who died

         12  while under the care and custody, or custody and

         13  guardianship of a local Department of Social

         14  Service, or other authorized agency.

         15                 These regional offices also complete

         16  and submit a data sheet on each fatality. The OCFS

         17  annual reports are derived primarily from these

         18  individual reports prepared by the regional offices.

         19                 Between the in-depth investigations

         20  conducted by the Accountability Review Panel, and

         21  the reports that are prepared by OCFS, the current

         22  system provides a wealth of useful, individual case

         23  data, which is used to develop findings,

         24  recommendations, and changes pertaining to case

         25  practice, procedures and other relevant areas. There
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          2  is no need, and considerable reasons not to,

          3  establish another panel to review these cases.

          4                 We oppose the creation as proposed of

          5  a New York City Child Fatality Review Advisory Team.

          6  This team would duplicate unnecessarily and perhaps

          7  confusingly, many of the duties and responsibilities

          8  of the current independent panel and OCFS's Fatality

          9  Review Team.

         10                 For instance, the team proposed in

         11  Intro. 480 will be responsible to review the deaths

         12  of children whose deaths were reported to the SCR.

         13                 This responsibility is already

         14  covered by the independent Accountability Review

         15  Panel and the OCFS team. Therefore, it is

         16  unnecessary to create an additional group that would

         17  duplicate the efforts of these two entities.

         18                 Furthermore, there is already

         19  multi-agency collaborations.

         20                 ACS already participates in the DOH,

         21  Department of Health and Mental Health infant

         22  mortality review process, and as noted earlier, the

         23  Office of Medical Examiner participates on the panel

         24  and also is involved with the DOHMH review process.

         25                 Staff from the Accountability Review
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          2  Panel have met with applicable DOHMH staff in an

          3  effort to share information and discuss what we are

          4  seeing in our respective fatality reviews.

          5                 That said, Children Services would,

          6  however, be open to discussing the creation of an

          7  entity which analyzes aggregate data rather than

          8  reviewing individual cases.

          9                 The use of aggregate data is much

         10  more useful in determining trends and in helping to

         11  identify areas that require additional enhancement

         12  for the protection of all of our City's children,

         13  and identifying public health trends Citywide.

         14                 Finally, such a new panel envisioned

         15  by Intro. 480 to review abuse and neglect cases for

         16  children in foster care, or known to the Child

         17  Welfare System, would require the approval by the

         18  State in order to investigate cases currently

         19  reviewed by the OCFS Fatality Review Team.

         20                 I thank you for your time, and I now

         21  turn my testimony over to the representative from

         22  DOHMH who will speak in greater detail and precision

         23  on the utility of analyzing fatality trends using

         24  aggregate data.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to
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          2  say, before you go on, that we've been joined by

          3  Council Member Helen Sears, a member of the

          4  Committee from Queens.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Thank

          6  you. Good afternoon, Chairperson Quinn, and City

          7  Council members. I'm Dr. Lorna Thorpe, Deputy

          8  Commissioner for the Division of Epidemiology at the

          9  New York City Department of Health and Mental

         10  Hygiene, or DOHMH.

         11                 I appreciate the opportunity to

         12  comment on this important issue. In our testimony

         13  today, we'll offer information about current child

         14  fatality review practices carried out by the

         15  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         16                 In 2003, approximately 1,300

         17  children, aged 18 and younger, died in New York

         18  City.

         19                 Of those, 62 percent, or

         20  approximately 800 deaths, were among infants under

         21  the age of one. The remaining 38 percent were of

         22  children ages one to 18.

         23                 Of the 1,300 children child deaths in

         24  2003, approximately 300 were of undetermined cause,

         25  suspicious, due to injury or assault or otherwise
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          2  potentially preventable. All of these deaths are

          3  reviewed by the Office of Chief Medical Examiner, or

          4  OCME, due to the manner and cause of their death due

          5  to OCME's Charter-mandated duties.

          6                 Fifty-six deaths were child

          7  fatalities reported to the State Central Registry,

          8  as due to abuse or neglect, and thus reviewed in

          9  aggregate by the Office of OCFS, which a subset

         10  reviewed in-depth, as described earlier by ACS. A

         11  total of 75 of these unanticipated deaths were among

         12  infants.

         13                 All deaths of infants under the age

         14  of one, not just those unanticipated, are reviewed

         15  in aggregate form by the Epidemiology, Surveillance

         16  and Evaluation Unit of the Bureau of Maternal and

         17  Infant Reproductive Health at DOHMH.

         18                 The Epidemiology, Surveillance and

         19  Evaluation Unit reviews and analyzes these data

         20  annually and compiles charts and trends looking for

         21  key demographic and other characteristics of the

         22  approximately 800 infant deaths each year.

         23                 The chart has comparison information

         24  for the past ten years. As needed, we analyze

         25  changes in rates or demographics or in geographic
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          2  neighborhoods, and we take necessary action based on

          3  findings, including disseminating information to the

          4  public, making program and policy recommendations.

          5                 We have copies of the most recent

          6  charts for your information that we can pass out.

          7                 In addition to the aggregate review

          8  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Do you have that

         10  now?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: I

         12  actually don't have it right there. I believe -- do

         13  we have a copy?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So you will

         15  provide that to us later?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: We will

         17  provide it to you. I apologize.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's okay.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: In

         20  addition to the aggregate view of all 800 infant

         21  deaths, the Bureau formed the Infant Mortality

         22  Review Committee in the fall of 2002, in order to

         23  examine unanticipated or preventable infant deaths

         24  more closely.

         25                 The Infant Mortality Case Review
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          2  Committee is multidisciplinary, and it includes

          3  medical professionals, OB/GYNs, neonatologists,

          4  pediatricians, family practice physicians, nurses,

          5  as well as representatives from the offices of Chief

          6  Medical Examiner, New York City Administration for

          7  Children's Services, New York City Health and

          8  Hospitals Corporation, New York City Department of

          9  Homeless Services, Consumer Product Safety

         10  Commission, Manhattan District Attorney's Office,

         11  March of Dimes, and community organizations and

         12  advocacy groups, as well as the New York State

         13  Department of Health, and ourselves, DOHMH.

         14                 The review committee focuses its work

         15  on the causes of death which are preventable and

         16  therefore amenable to public health interventions,

         17  including SIDS, injuries, undetermined causes of

         18  death, and infections.

         19                 The Committee does not routinely

         20  review infant deaths due to other causes because

         21  they're overwhelmingly caused by prematurity, low

         22  birth weight, congenital anomalies and natural

         23  causes. These causes are most often corrected by

         24  medical interventions.

         25                 The committee meets two to three
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          2  times per year. Each year the Committee examines in

          3  detail one of the four causes above, by looking at

          4  deaths attributable to that cause over the span of

          5  several years, using information collected through

          6  individual chart reviews by DOHMH staff, which is

          7  then de-identified and examined in aggregate form.

          8                 The case review process is as

          9  follows: DOHMH staff members use the OCME autopsy

         10  files as the main source of information on

         11  individual cases for the specific cause of death,

         12  for example, SIDS.

         13                 The file may include any or all of

         14  the following: Autopsy report, death certificate,

         15  special studies such as toxicology or metabolic and

         16  other tests, police reports, death scene

         17  investigation information, mother's medical history,

         18  prenatal care information and supplemental

         19  interviews with parents, police, caregivers,

         20  physicians, et cetera.

         21                 All individual information abstracted

         22  by DOHMH staff from autopsy reports includes

         23  detailed and identifying information, which is then

         24  de-identified and maintained in the DOHMH access

         25  database.
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          2                 This information is then compiled

          3  into summary aggregate form and presented to the

          4  infant mortality case review committee for

          5  examination and discussion.

          6                 For example, in 2003, the Infant

          7  Mortality Review Committee focused on SIDS reviewing

          8  a total of 69 deaths that occurred in 2000, 2001.

          9                 2004 the Committee examined a total

         10  of 128 cases, with injury or undetermined cause of

         11  death, manner of death, occurring between 2000 and

         12  the year 2003.

         13                 The Review Committee uses these

         14  de-identified case review data to identify risk

         15  factors for potentially preventable causes of infant

         16  death.

         17                 The members provide expertise in the

         18  context of their professional field, and based on

         19  the data make recommendations for intervention and

         20  policy changes to reduce similar infant deaths.

         21                 Committee members then look at

         22  aggregate rather than individual data because it

         23  provides them with the ability to examine risk

         24  factors for that particular cause of death, a

         25  greater capacity to identify trends and determine
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          2  significant risk factors.

          3                 Results from the Review Committee

          4  have produced important findings, allowing us to

          5  determine risk factors for SIDS specific to New York

          6  City community. Some examples of key findings have

          7  been as follows:

          8                 The SIDS rate for black, non-Hispanic

          9  infants is 14.5 times the rate for whites and almost

         10  twice the rates for Hispanics.

         11                 Nearly half of the deceased infants

         12  were in the care of an extended family member,

         13  babysitter or other child care arrangement.

         14  Forty-three percent were infants placed to sleep on

         15  their stomach or side. Of these, 97 percent were

         16  black or Hispanic.

         17                 Two-thirds of SIDS deaths were among

         18  infants born to mothers under the age of 24.

         19                 Providers observed that the back to

         20  sleep position was not consistently modeled in

         21  hospitals, an observation which supported the need

         22  to increase awareness in the hospital setting.

         23                 As a result of this particular

         24  review, the following program and policy

         25  recommendations have been made. Hospitals need to
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          2  consistently use the back position in nurseries and

          3  train new mothers to always place infants on their

          4  backs.

          5                 Grandmothers, aunts and other family

          6  caregivers must also be considered in SIDS

          7  prevention training programs.

          8                 When creating public information

          9  campaigns, sleep position must be the key issue when

         10  addressed.

         11                 This approach of individual level

         12  data collection and intensive reviews of advocate

         13  data have been successful in several other areas of

         14  the Health Department.

         15                 For example, we've had similar

         16  success in our Maternal Mortality Review Committee,

         17  or MMRC, which is constructed like the Infant

         18  Mortality Review Committee, whereby individual chart

         19  abstraction is done by DOHMH staff, and then

         20  compiled into a report for a review.

         21                 In 2003, initial aggregate data

         22  analyses from the Committee demonstrated a high rate

         23  of fatal maternal hemorrhage, after delivery.

         24                 In any one medical facility, no more

         25  than one or two deaths occurred per year. Thus, an
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          2  in-depth review of cases would not have identified

          3  this to be a problem, for when we looked at all

          4  cases and compared the magnitude of our experience

          5  to other areas of the United States, we determined

          6  that we had a sizeable problem with marked disparity

          7  across racial ethnic groups.

          8                 Based on the results of this

          9  aggregate data analysis, we issued a maternal

         10  mortality hemorrhage alert to all New York City

         11  providers, in conjunction with the American College

         12  of Obstetrics and Gynecology and the New York State

         13  Department of Health.

         14                 We also developed provider education

         15  and clinical guidelines to improve management of

         16  maternal hemorrhage. Therefore, as you will see from

         17  our testimony, the testimony from other City

         18  agencies here today, there are strong programs in

         19  existence that review individual child fatalities,

         20  particularly those deemed preventable.

         21                 Outside experts are included in both

         22  the ACS and DOHMH efforts and findings of these

         23  reviews are actionable; that is, recommendations for

         24  change do come out of them.

         25                 In our view, Intro. 480 is largely
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          2  redundant and does not recognize the current efforts

          3  of the various City agencies here today.

          4                 That said, it is true that no single

          5  body currently exists to gather and review the large

          6  amount of information that is collected by the

          7  various agencies here today in an aggregate fashion.

          8                 A newly created Citywide body could

          9  add value to the current review process by

         10  collecting and synthesizing this existing

         11  information, creating an overall picture of the

         12  risks facing children and recommending interventions

         13  aimed to reduce them.

         14                 Intro. 48 acknowledges the need for

         15  an overall City effort, and we're pleased that the

         16  Council recognizes this important, the importance of

         17  this issue.

         18                 We'd be happy to work with the

         19  Council on a more targeted bill that recognizes and

         20  builds upon the ongoing work by City agencies and

         21  better encourages interagency collaboration on this

         22  important issue.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We want to say

         25  we've also been joined by the Minority Leader of the
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          2  City Council from Staten Island, Council Member

          3  James Oddo, who is also a member of this Committee.

          4                 Doctor.

          5                 DR. SMIDDY: Good afternoon. My name

          6  is Monica Smiddy. I have had the privilege of

          7  working at the Office of Chief Medical Examiner for

          8  about 12 years. I'm a practicing physician and my

          9  job title is City Medical Examiner II. Thank you for

         10  allowing me to testify on this important topic.

         11                 Child fatality review is an important

         12  function of our office, which we have done for

         13  years, both in-house and in collaboration with other

         14  agencies.

         15                 Currently, I serve as a consultant

         16  and member of the Administration of Children's

         17  Services Accountability Panel Review. I also serve

         18  as a consultant and member of the Department of

         19  Health Infant Mortality Case Review Committee.

         20                 Our agency, as defined by the New

         21  York City Charter, Section 557, has jurisdiction

         22  over deaths due to criminal violence and neglect by

         23  accident, by suicide, suddenly when in apparent

         24  health, when unattended by a physician, or in any

         25  suspicious or unusual manner.
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          2                 Approximately, 5,300 autopsies are

          3  performed each year in our office. Of these,

          4  approximately 300 or six percent are done on

          5  children under the age of 18.

          6                 Our pediatric cases frequently are

          7  more complicated than adults. They require lengthy

          8  examination at the autopsy table, many more

          9  postmortem studies, thorough death scene

         10  investigation, and collaboration with other medical

         11  experts, law enforcement officials, and in some

         12  cases child protective services and the District

         13  Attorney's Office.

         14                 A child fatality investigation and

         15  case review begins when the death is reported to our

         16  office. Our investigator gathers pertinent

         17  information from family members, detectives, and

         18  physicians who have come in contact with the child.

         19                 A death scene investigation

         20  frequently will be performed. The Medical Examiner

         21  reviews this information and proceeds to autopsy. If

         22  it is an instance of suspected child abuse or

         23  neglect, the Medical Examiner is mandated to report

         24  the death to the State Central Registry for

         25  suspected abuse, confer with the District Attorney's
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          2  Office, New York City Police Department, and the

          3  Administration for Children's Services.

          4                 The Medical Examiner may be asked to

          5  testify as an expert witness in Family Court, Grand

          6  Jury and/or the State Supreme Court. In cases of

          7  accidental injury, other agencies, such as the

          8  Consumer Product Safety Commission, may be notified

          9  by our office. For children who die of burns or

         10  smoke inhalation, the Medical Examiner consults with

         11  the New York City Fire Marshal conducting the

         12  investigation.

         13                 In instances of natural disease,

         14  there will be consultations with pediatric medical

         15  experts on an ad hoc basis. The records of the

         16  Office of Chief Medical Examiner are confidential.

         17  Pursuant to the Charter, our office is required to

         18  keep full and complete records of its cases and is

         19  required to deliver the appropriate District

         20  Attorney, its records which relate to any death as

         21  to which there is in the judgment of the Medical

         22  Examiner in charge, any indication of criminality.

         23  Such records are not open to public inspection.

         24                 Further, because the New York City

         25  Charter explicitly provides that the Medical
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          2  Examiner records are not open to public inspection,

          3  agency records are not released pursuant to requests

          4  made under the Freedom of Information Law.

          5                 The Office of Chief Medical Examiner

          6  will continue to maintain our high standards

          7  regarding investigation and certification of child

          8  fatalities.

          9                 We are committed to continuing our

         10  collaboration with other agencies, and in

         11  participating in appropriate programs for the

         12  prevention for childhood fatalities.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I have questions

         15  for different panels. But Dr. Smiddy, just a couple

         16  of questions for you.

         17                 How frequently does the team at the

         18  CME's office meet?

         19                 DR. SMIDDY: We start when the case is

         20  called into our office, and we meet with other

         21  agencies, such as the Police Department, the

         22  District Attorney's Office, ACS --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Let me ask my

         24  second question first. Who is on your review team?

         25  Who are the members of it?
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          2                 DR. SMIDDY: The members on our review

          3  team include me, Dr. Hirsch, our other Medical

          4  Examiners, and we have medical consultants as well.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: How many

          6  consultants, and how many of -- so, you and Dr.

          7  Hirsch are two, how many other ME's and how many

          8  medical consultants, and who are the medical

          9  consultants? And are they paid by the City of New

         10  York?

         11                 DR. SMIDDY: I don't have that

         12  information.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

         14                 DR. SMIDDY: I'd be happy to get back

         15  to you on that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You don't have any

         17  of it?

         18                 DR. SMIDDY: I don't have that

         19  information in front of me.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But you go to the

         21  meetings, how many people are usually around the

         22  table?

         23                 DR. SMIDDY: It's on an ad hoc basis,

         24  depending upon the nature of the case.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And it's always
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          2  Dr. Hirsch himself?

          3                 DR. SMIDDY: Absolutely. Dr. Hirsch is

          4  our Chief Medical Examiner.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But he could send

          6  a deputy. He always goes himself?

          7                 DR. SMIDDY: The meetings --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Because things

          9  that I'm a member of, I have to admit, I don't

         10  always go myself.

         11                 DR. SMIDDY: Yes. Usually what

         12  happens, if it is a suspicious case that needs more

         13  discussion, Dr. Hirsch, myself and the other medical

         14  examiners will sit down and discuss a case at the

         15  meeting.

         16                 In the meantime, if we need to

         17  consult with other medical experts, or other

         18  agencies, we do that as well.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So, it's fair to

         20  say that your folks are more, exclusively more a

         21  forensic medical examiner focus within your team?

         22                 DR. SMIDDY: Our responsibility is to

         23  certify the cause and manner of death, and the

         24  manner of death may be criminal, may be violent, may

         25  be natural.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And how frequently

          3  -- you know, you said what kind of triggers the

          4  team to start, how frequently do they end up

          5  meeting? I mean, is it weekly, daily, monthly,

          6  quarterly?

          7                 DR. SMIDDY: Dr. Hirsch meets with the

          8  Medical Examiners every day at 3:00.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: No, no, no. The

         10  team with the other folks?

         11                 DR. SMIDDY: If it is an important

         12  case that needs to be discussed we will do it at

         13  that time, and then future meetings will be arranged

         14  as needed.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Tell me what would

         16  lead you to determine -- what was the word you just

         17  used? Important or?

         18                 DR. SMIDDY: If it's a case that is

         19  difficult, and frequently many of our cases are

         20  difficult, we're investigating a child fatality. So,

         21  that frequently requires a lot of discussion of the

         22  professionals within our office, as well as other

         23  agencies, and medical experts in-house and in the

         24  hospitals.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So, whether it
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          2  involves people out of house or the consultants that

          3  are part of this, it depends, right? It's not always

          4  the same level of review for every case?

          5                 DR. SMIDDY: That's correct. Because

          6  not every case requires that type of review. And

          7  also, the numbers that we have, unfortunately if

          8  child fatalities prevent that in-depth discussion,

          9  an investigation.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes. Well, one

         11  could argue not every case is one that needs that

         12  level of review, as you describe it, may not be

         13  apparent from the initial review of the facts. But I

         14  think it's fair to say, if there was a little more

         15  review done in every case, you might realize that

         16  there were some that needed a much more significant

         17  review, and if the team was reviewing cases that

         18  didn't need more review, they would probably be able

         19  to determine that pretty quickly, so it's not like

         20  it would end up being so burdensome because I think

         21  professionals would be able to kind of weed those

         22  out, so-to-speak, the ones that don't need a lot of

         23  extra review, but you might end up finding some that

         24  do, that you otherwise could not have gotten because

         25  at sort of face value, so-to-speak, they might not
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          2  have jumped off the paper as needing the deeper

          3  review.

          4                 DR. SMIDDY: I'm not sure how to

          5  answer that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You don't have to.

          7  It was just more of an observation. Thank you.

          8                 Commissioner, in your testimony you

          9  make a lot of references to the OCFS team and their

         10  role, but the State and the Legislature proactively

         11  pass legislation which allows localities to create

         12  this board. So, although in a number of different

         13  ways both you and your colleagues from the

         14  Department of Health raised concerns about being

         15  redundant and duplicative, and we'll probably talk

         16  about all of those in some ways throughout the

         17  course of the hearing, but just on the one of OCFS,

         18  it seems odd to think that it would be duplicative

         19  for the City to create an entity, because the State

         20  has an entity when the State proactively sought to

         21  allow localities to have these boards.

         22                 One would think if the State thought

         23  that a locality having a board was going to be

         24  redundant to their board, they wouldn't have allowed

         25  cities and localities this power.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: I

          3  actually wasn't speaking in terms of duplication in

          4  regards to what the State does. I mean, they could

          5  presumably make or not make that case, whatever

          6  their druthers are, but I was talking about

          7  duplication in regards to what the City already does

          8  on those cases that have a prior child welfare

          9  history that are reviewed with our accountability

         10  review panel. I was just talking about the slice of

         11  cases that we review in New York City with the

         12  Accountability Review Panel.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: All right. So, I

         14  apologize if I misunderstood. So, you don't think

         15  that there's a duplication issue as it relates to

         16  the OCFS panel?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: We were

         18  discussing before whether it becomes triplicated at

         19  some point, because OCFS would review, ACS reviews

         20  the same case, and then this new panel, if it's

         21  comprised in the manner that the bill intends, would

         22  be reviewing it yet again. So, it would be a triple

         23  review.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So then you do

         25  think it's a problem as it relates to the State?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: You

          3  know, you have to talk to the State about that.

          4                 I'm talking about what we do in

          5  regards to children's services when we analyze these

          6  fatality cases. I know, and am quite comfortable,

          7  that the review that this independent panel does is,

          8  I can't imagine a review, frankly, being more

          9  comprehensive than the one we do, including the

         10  annual report that sums up all the cases and

         11  provides recommendations, as well as disseminating

         12  aggregate data analysis on the cases we reviewed.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I think there's a

         14  tremendous amount of respect for the review that ACS

         15  does in this Council, and from the community of

         16  folks who are, you know, advocates on behalf of the

         17  children you care for, and children Citywide, I

         18  think my concern, and the concern of this bill and a

         19  lot of the advocates that brought this issue to the

         20  Council, is that that review that ACS does, you do

         21  appropriately for the children who are in your care,

         22  right? And, so, don't other children deserve that

         23  same level, and other families deserve that same

         24  level of investigation and review when they died,

         25  and when their families have suffered such a
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          2  tragedy?

          3                 So, I hear what you're saying about

          4  you do your own review. And I'm more than confident

          5  we can figure out a way to balance that out with a

          6  central board, so that your purview over the

          7  children you're in charge of isn't, you know, taken

          8  away and that we don't end up being too duplicative.

          9                 But that said, you only look at the

         10  deaths of a small fraction of those that occur in

         11  the City. Do you know what percentage of deaths,

         12  deaths of children, get reviewed by the ACS board?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: In

         14  regard to the total number of children who die in

         15  the City that are not related to Children's Services

         16  in any way?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: I don't

         19  know what the math is, but 1,300 children die a

         20  year, so whatever our number would be --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You'd get 24, give

         22  or take?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Right.

         24  So that number divided into --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So it's a small
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          2  fraction of the number that get looked at by ACS.

          3  So, it seems like it would be wise to follow your

          4  lead and do more in-depth reviews for other deaths.

          5  I mean, wouldn't you agree?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: I'm

          7  talking about the review that we do at ACS.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: In

         10  terms of reviewing 1,300 cases in the same kind of

         11  manner would require -- I would find it hard to

         12  actually calculate what the resources would be to do

         13  that kind of analysis across 1,300 cases. It would

         14  be monumental.

         15                 I think that to do the kind of

         16  analysis that my colleagues spoke about, which is an

         17  aggregate review of fatalities along the public

         18  health model, that, frankly, is what other large

         19  jurisdictions do, they look at the aggregate

         20  information on the public health side, and then they

         21  make their recommendations around prevention and

         22  what other efforts can be made.

         23                 I've never heard of an as large, or

         24  even nearly as large jurisdiction, as New York City,

         25  tackling a fatality review in the comprehensive way
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          2  that we do in our panel.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: California does.

          4  Arizona does.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Every

          6  child?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes. Los Angeles

          8  does as a City. California as a State, Arizona as a

          9  State.

         10                 We might be the biggest City when we

         11  do this, that's true, but there are other states

         12  that do this, so we would not be the biggest entity,

         13  so to speak, to attempt to do this.

         14                 The 24 deaths, Commissioner, that you

         15  referenced in your testimony, is that the total

         16  number of deaths of children under your care, or is

         17  it a subset of it?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: In

         19  2003?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes. The number

         21  you reference on the bottom of page 2. Yes, that's

         22  Calendar Year 2003.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's the total

         25  number?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Right.

          3  For last year, for 2003.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm going to see

          5  if my colleagues have any questions, and then I have

          6  other questions for the Department of Health as

          7  well.

          8                 Council Member Sears, do you have any

          9  questions?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Actually it's

         11  one of clarification for Commissioner Cardieri.

         12                 In your testimony, you stated that

         13  the panel issued reports, and in it you stated that

         14  the report reviewed the deaths of 24 children and 23

         15  families. So, should I assume that there were two

         16  deaths in one family?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Yes,

         18  there was one set of twins in a family.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And did they

         20  both die --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: At the same

         23  time?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Yes. It

         25  was, I believe it was a fire. Yes, it was a set of

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  twins in one family.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay, I just

          4  wanted that clarified while I review some -- I mean,

          5  I know there seems to be so much work that's done

          6  from what I'm reading, and I'm also looking at the

          7  proposed legislation, I think it's pretty astounding

          8  that you did 5,300 autopsies, and although I don't

          9  think that we need a redundancy of a bureaucratic

         10  system, it seems that those numbers can be pretty

         11  staggering, and perhaps maybe the whole thing has to

         12  be looked at as to how exactly, and what are the

         13  causes of those deaths, and how you zoom in on

         14  really looking at how they can be prevented.

         15                 I know that children and babies are

         16  very complex. I'm a parent myself.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And a grandparent.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And a

         19  grandparent, that's true. And I know how complex

         20  they are, but in a City like New York and

         21  recognizing so much, I think the effort of the

         22  Committee and those sponsoring this ought to see

         23  that those numbers get drastically reduced. And I

         24  think that there needs to be a collaborative effort

         25  to somehow come to some amicable agreement in this,
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          2  that it can be a far more effective piece of working

          3  together to do that. And I know that you have a lot

          4  that you're doing, but I think that the Committee,

          5  or the legislation is proposed to really reinforce

          6  those efforts, and you might want to look at it that

          7  way and see how it can be better worked together.

          8  Because I think those numbers are a lot and infant

          9  deaths are increasing in this City, and for many

         10  reasons, and they are complex, but I think that

         11  sometimes we can get so over-bureaucratic in doing

         12  what we're doing and the way these things have been

         13  consolidating, I'm not being constructive but I

         14  think there has to be more that's done and maybe

         15  working with the Committee Chair somehow they might

         16  reach some amicable situation, without really

         17  creating a more bungling maze of what I suggest.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: This question is

         20  for whoever would know the answer.

         21                 In 2002 there was an RFP from the New

         22  York State Office of Children and Family Services,

         23  2002 multidisciplinary teams, child advocacy

         24  centers, child fatality review teams, requests for

         25  proposals and it was for folks to send in
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          2  applications to become multidisciplinary teams,

          3  child advocacy centers and child fatality review

          4  teams. Do you know if we ever applied for that type

          5  of funding in the City or responded to that or

          6  others? I mean, I'm sure if there's one there are

          7  other ones, but have ever responded to that one or

          8  any other RFPs?

          9                 Because obviously one of the things

         10  that could help make our work in this area better,

         11  whatever the actual model is is more money. So, I

         12  was wondering if we ever applied for that? If you

         13  guys know. If you don't know, then someone could get

         14  back to us.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: We can

         16  get back to you on that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. And on the

         18  issue of the, unfortunately really tragic, enormity

         19  of the numbers we're talking about, you know, ACS

         20  reviewed 23 deaths, and then you, Commissioner, took

         21  us through 800 other deaths that you looked at, and

         22  then there were 56 or so on the State Registry, 400

         23  or something deaths that aren't getting the same

         24  level of review. And I think the intention and goal

         25  of this bill is to make sure that all of the deaths
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          2  are getting a thorough multidisciplinary review, so

          3  we can, as Council Member Sears said, reduce the

          4  number of these deaths that occur, and also try to

          5  create a consistency in the level of review so that

          6  we know they're all getting looked at with at least,

          7  you know, that the floor on them is sufficiently

          8  high, if there's a ceiling for others, fine, but

          9  that the floor is sufficiently high. And this is not

         10  an attempt to duplicate, but to, one, make sure we

         11  give every child at that moment of death the same

         12  level of review and respect and protection so we can

         13  learn what happened there to help other children.

         14  So, that's one.

         15                 And then, two, to create a level of

         16  consistency. Clearly there are different things,

         17  which are of tremendous merit going on in different

         18  agencies. So, when you actually look at the number,

         19  because of the work that's already being done, it's

         20  not quite as enormous, so obviously we should look

         21  to other places like California and Arizona on the

         22  lessons that they learn.

         23                 Commissioner Thorpe, in your

         24  testimony in the end you talk about being happy to

         25  work with the Council on a more targeted bill that

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  recognizes and builds upon the ongoing work by City

          3  agencies and further encourages interagency

          4  collaboration on this very important issue. What

          5  would that look like for you? How would you envision

          6  that bill?

          7                 We're not going to tie you to this in

          8  legislative language, but just give us an idea.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: One thing

         10  that I believe is a helpful model is if you look at

         11  how we've structured the infant mortality reviews.

         12  There are 800 infant mortalities each year. Many of

         13  them are due to congenital anomalies that are not

         14  going to have a public health intervention and are

         15  not tied to suspected abuse or some preventable

         16  cause.

         17                 An aggregate review, and maintaining

         18  aggregate review of child deaths, and watching those

         19  trends in the non-preventable causes I think is

         20  important, but focusing in and zeroing in on the

         21  subset areas where we think we might be able to do

         22  the best good would be helpful. So, in other words,

         23  injuries, undetermined causes, et cetera, et cetera,

         24  for children, I think is a good first step. And I do

         25  believe, and forgive me if I am stating this
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          2  incorrectly, do believe that states which have child

          3  fatality review committees that look at all deaths

          4  do the same, they look aggregate form in all deaths

          5  and they zero in on -- large states with numbers

          6  like ours, they zero in only on a subset of

          7  preventable. They don't individually review all

          8  cases.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I know that, I'm

         10  virtually positive that Arizona reviews all cases,

         11  and I think California has both, but we'll have to

         12  check for that, but I'm virtually positive that

         13  Arizona definitely reviews, you know, has both

         14  models.

         15                 You know, in the beginning of the

         16  hearing I read part of the letter from the folks of

         17  Philadelphia, and in there, testimony in their

         18  letter, they talked about actually making changes,

         19  seeing that, you know, having more eyes look at

         20  things, and I think it was the one case they

         21  mentioned, they realized it was a homicide.

         22  Philadelphia, granted, it's a smaller place. And I

         23  certainly -- the idea of aggregate review, reviewing

         24  things in the aggregate, obviously has merit and

         25  might be more streamlined based on what you said,
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          2  it's hard not to focus on the words from the

          3  Philadelphia Chief Medical Examiner, and it's hard

          4  to let go of the idea that their team, which is

          5  structured differently, identified that a child was

          6  murdered, and had it not been for that team, one

          7  could take from the letter, they might not have

          8  known that that child was murdered, and who knows

          9  how many other children and adults were protected

         10  because they realized that that was a homicide, not

         11  an accident or, you know, whatever.

         12                 So, I'm a little concerned, if we go

         13  too much down the road with just the aggregate we're

         14  going to miss that type of opportunity that we've

         15  seen in certainly Arizona and Philadelphia and other

         16  places take. And I think we can see from that one

         17  letter how helpful it's been.

         18                 Now, I obviously things have to be

         19  balanced as you get to bigger places, but how would

         20  you compensate for that? With the way you're looking

         21  at it, realizing you're going to miss things like

         22  what they caught there, and how could we better

         23  capture that, that type of a thing?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Thank

         25  you. I think there are two issues that are helpful.
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          2  One is, as I understand, Child Fatality Review

          3  Committees, when they are developed either take an

          4  investigative approach or a public health approach.

          5                 An investigative approach often times

          6  tries to zero in and identify early on whether a

          7  case that wasn't identified as a criminal case is a

          8  criminal case. And that I think exists in some parts

          9  of the country and may yield a case or two or more,

         10  but I think the yield is low.

         11                 I think the general trend is to shape

         12  a child fatality review committee around a public

         13  health model to say after the criminal

         14  investigations have been done in the respective

         15  agencies that do them, the lessons learned from a

         16  retrospective perspective on how can we prevent

         17  cases, whether they're injuries on a particular

         18  sidewalk, or whether it's due to infections that

         19  have a public health intervention, the yield tends

         20  to be larger for this type of child fatality review,

         21  and more children's lives, I believe, you know, have

         22  the potential to be saved. So, that's one issue to

         23  keep in mind is what yield are you looking for and

         24  what's the goal of what one might want to keep in

         25  mind.
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          2                 The other issue is that for causes of

          3  death that are potentially due to abuse and neglect

          4  but not identified as such through the existing

          5  mechanism whether it's an OCME autopsy or whatnot,

          6  if that exists they would tend to be more likely

          7  found in certain causes of death than others.

          8                 The child who dies of a neoplasm or a

          9  cancer is less likely to be a misclassified homicide

         10  than an injury, and so targeted review seems to have

         11  a greater yield.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         13  Stewart has some questions.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         15  Madam Chair.

         16                 Commissioner, I take it that your

         17  panel is different from Dr. Smiddy's panel, in terms

         18  of the investigation fully, right?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: That's

         20  correct. You're speaking to which Commissioner?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, any of

         22  the -- all right, what I would like to know,

         23  basically, is in terms of the investigation, who

         24  determines what is being, apart from Dr. Smiddy's

         25  panel, who determines where the investigation should
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          2  go? Because I get the impression that you have two

          3  different panels that might happen to investigate

          4  the same case; isn't that so?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: You

          6  have the Medical Examiner's Panel.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: That

          9  does a forensic investigation. And then you have the

         10  child Accountability Review Panel that reviews,

         11  after we see the findings of the Medical Examiner,

         12  as part of our review into the case circumstances

         13  and the history of the family.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And it's only

         15  the ACS, and only the kids that are in your

         16  protection that you will investigate?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: The

         18  cases that the accountability review panel

         19  investigates are those cases where there's been a

         20  report to the State Central Registry after a child

         21  has died, and there is some history within the last

         22  ten years with Children Services with that family.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, if

         24  there's no death, if there's like, let's say there

         25  is an accident and there is something near death or
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          2  the child has been crippled for life, you don't

          3  investigate that?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Well,

          5  if there was a report made to the State Central

          6  Registry, we are mandated to investigate it, not as

          7  part of the Accountability Review Panel, because

          8  that includes fatalities, but it's an injury that's

          9  questionable, could have been the result of abuse or

         10  neglect, and that's why the panel, that's why the

         11  State Central Registry took the report in. That

         12  report would come down to the children's services

         13  field office, and we would initiate our own

         14  investigation, as we do on any other case.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         16  You also spoke about giving a report at the end of

         17  the year. How often do you meet during the year?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: The

         19  Accountability Review Panel, the group of outside

         20  experts that gathers to review the cases, meets at

         21  least six times a year, and often times more,

         22  upwards of eight and then there are some special

         23  sessions that are called that might bring that

         24  number even higher. But it could be up to eight to

         25  ten, but minimally six.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: You only meet

          3  basically when there's a death, or you meet on a

          4  regular basis?

          5                 I get the impression that you will

          6  not meet unless there is some death, and you're

          7  going to set up for this investigation. You know, if

          8  there's a panel, I thought you would meet on a

          9  regular basis but at least go over your plans, what

         10  needs to be done and bring people up to date as to

         11  what happened last month and continuously.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Well,

         13  we do. We do both. There's meetings that center

         14  around the mission of the panel, which is to review

         15  fatality cases, and then there are meetings apart

         16  from that amongst the panel members typically.  Over

         17  the last few months, there's been at least, I would

         18  say on the average of one a month over the last few

         19  months, meetings between the panel and our staff and

         20  Commissioner Mattingly to talk about what they see

         21  in particular cases and what their recommendations

         22  are around recurrent issues that they've seen over

         23  time in cases that they wanted our Commissioner

         24  Mattingly to pay some special attention to.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And in your
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          2  group, your panel, you said that 12, 12 members with

          3  a staff of what?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Twelve

          5  members and then there has got to be another 12 to

          6  15 people who help pull the records together,

          7  develop a basic outline of the case and then the

          8  panel members review the cases from there.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And then at

         10  the end with your report, at the end of the year

         11  with your report at the end of the year with your

         12  report, you create recommendations as to how ACS and

         13  the different agencies can change their policies,

         14  are you saying that?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Yes.

         16  The report is publicly disseminated. Anyone here is

         17  welcome to a copy of it and it includes

         18  recommendations on case practice. Unit issues that

         19  the panel may have seen in various subunits within

         20  ACS. There is a synopses or summaries of medical

         21  examiner declared homicide cases, brief confidential

         22  reviews of some of the issues that were ascertained

         23  in those cases, as well as aggregate data analysis.

         24  There's any number of tables that stretch out at the

         25  end of the report that breakdown all of the
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          2  fatalities by a whole assortment of demographic and

          3  other data elements.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: If you were

          5  to count on one good thing that a new panel that

          6  this law tries to create will do or create, what is

          7  that one thing you think that will happen?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CARDIERI: Well, I

          9  think the opportunity to have a wider and more

         10  public discussion about the public health aggregate

         11  data analysis model that we see in other large

         12  jurisdictions is a worthy discussion. I think that's

         13  an important discussion, and we don't have that

         14  right now in New York City. We do collect large

         15  chunks of that data, but it's not pulled together in

         16  the one essential way and analyzed in the kind of

         17  way that maybe this discussion will open up.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just before I call

         20  on Council Member Clarke who has questions, I know

         21  the Administration will hang around to hear the

         22  panel after you guys. It is highly out of character

         23  but for the Health Committee we only have two

         24  panels, usually we think brief is five. And we will

         25  certainly put that question of an aggregate panel to
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          2  the advocates, and I'd like to ask if the three of

          3  you could stay to hear their responses. I'd like you

          4  to hear what they say, as I am, so that we can have

          5  that information as we move forward to negotiate the

          6  bill.

          7                 As I said, certainly one could

          8  understand how that could be effective. I have

          9  concerns that it might not end up being a deep

         10  enough or comprehensive review, but I would ask if

         11  the three of you could just hang around, we'll make

         12  sure it's the first question we ask them, or they

         13  could throw it into their testimony if they'd like.

         14                 Council Member Clarke.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you,

         16  Madam Chair. It seems to me just in listening to the

         17  conversation, and the testimony thus far, that, you

         18  know, there's an agreement that the review process

         19  is very important to our outlook with respect to the

         20  communities in the City of New York and infant

         21  mortality. I think the challenge is how do we

         22  instill all of this and create the best vehicle for

         23  making sure that we're on the mark. And what you've

         24  described to me demonstrates some gaps in being able

         25  to establish the type of flow of information that's
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          2  really required.

          3                 I'll just use the example that you

          4  use in your testimony, Dr. Thorpe. When we look at

          5  SIDS specific to New York City, then you talk about

          6  SID rates in black, non-Hispanic infants at 5.8

          7  which is 14.5 times the rate for whites, my question

          8  would then follow-up to ask, when you talk about

          9  blacks, does that break it down by ethnicity? Are we

         10  talking about immigrants? Are we talking about a

         11  specific neighborhood in particular communities, and

         12  is there any overlap with that and ACS?

         13                 Some of these children being in

         14  foster care, you know, some of these infants may be

         15  in a group environment, and whether the conditions

         16  in which they live, so that we begin to pinpoint it

         17  even more than just a blanket statement of black

         18  infants.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: I think

         20  that's a very good point. Basically if there were,

         21  over the course of two years if there were 70 kids

         22  deaths, and, first of all, for any type of careful

         23  analysis that we do from an epidemiologic

         24  perspective, place is very important. We always pay

         25  attention to geography and keep that information
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          2  prominent, because that's an important factor. So is

          3  time, to see if things change, and so is the person,

          4  the characters of the person, one being in a race

          5  ethnicity.

          6                 If this was an infant, and there were

          7  69 deaths over the course of two years, there's a

          8  possibility if there's approximately 50 or so

          9  ACS-related deaths, it's a possibility it could be

         10  an ACS child. And perhaps, again, different teams

         11  that already do the in-depth data collection, and

         12  review of the data in aggregate. Because, again, we

         13  don't just look at aggregate, we collect data and

         14  then we aggregate it and try to look for trends, if

         15  this were to be reviewed in conjunction with ACS

         16  reviews, that might be powerful.

         17                 I mean, it's possible that there

         18  could be an overlap. It's possible that a SIDS child

         19  was part of an OCME investigation, an ECS

         20  investigation, and an infant mortality review

         21  investigation.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So, then I

         23  guess what I was looking at in terms of our

         24  recommendation for the review team was its capacity

         25  to be advisory, advisory not only to your entity,
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          2  but advisory back to the community where these

          3  fatalities may have taken place.

          4                 For instance, is there in any of your

          5  examinations, an examination of the health of the

          6  mother?

          7                 And I guess that would fall more

          8  under your purview and/or the circumstances, for

          9  instance, was a parent or a mother traveling at the

         10  time that the child, you know, prior to her child

         11  passing, you know, how recently for an immigrant

         12  parent, did they come into the United States? Of

         13  those types of details and information gathered as

         14  part of your analysis, and then is that compared

         15  with perhaps any complaints in a situation that may

         16  fall under the jurisdiction of ACS, is that data

         17  then, is there a clearinghouse where that

         18  information would then be indicated in that agency?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: If you

         20  refer back to my testimony, you'll see that when we

         21  conduct the infant mortality reviews, we actually do

         22  collect information from the autopsy report, and

         23  that includes at times the mother's health

         24  information.

         25                 All death certificates, all birth
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          2  certificates in New York City have, not only place

          3  of birth, but ancestry information. So that

          4  information is there and looked at. So, yes, is the

          5  answer to your question first of whether or not that

          6  information is examined. I don't know if there is

          7  additional information. I do have representatives

          8  here who do the actual investigation. May I open the

          9  floor to a response from them?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sure. They'll just

         11  need to come to the mic and identify themselves for

         12  the record. But that's not a problem.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: This is

         14  Commissioner Kaplan.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Sure.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER KAPLAN: Good

         17  afternoon. Deborah Kaplan, Assistant Commissioner,

         18  Bureau of Maternal Infant Reproductive Health, New

         19  York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         20                 Yes. In terms of your question that

         21  we -- well, first, just to remind you that when in

         22  the testimony that the Medical Examiner's Office and

         23  ACS participate on the Committee, as well as

         24  representatives from Department of Homeless,

         25  Consumer Safety, a range of areas that impact and
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          2  can bring information to the table.

          3                 But we do, in our review, look at a

          4  range of the demographic, particularly this issue of

          5  foreign born, as a key issue, that we look at in

          6  terms of the race and ethnicity of the infants that

          7  die.

          8                 In terms of maternal health, frankly,

          9  because we're doing retrospective review, we have

         10  less information. We don't have access usually to

         11  the mother's charts. We've been really focusing on

         12  the infant's chart, and if there's a death

         13  investigation, we have information from the Medical

         14  Examiner's Office related to that. We often sit with

         15  the Medical Examiners, in fact, with Dr. Smiddy, and

         16  go through the cases together to make sure we have a

         17  full understanding, and she will come to our

         18  committee meetings and report on some of them.

         19                 If I may, just one thing that I think

         20  is helpful in looking at distinction of the three

         21  existing processes, is that the OCME is really

         22  focused primarily on manner and cause of death,

         23  however, they also bring their expertise to inform

         24  the other two committees. So we heavily depend on

         25  their data and their autopsy reports to inform our
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          2  process. But their focus of their review is the

          3  cause and manner, and then whereas ACS the focus is

          4  really on improving their own agency processes, and

          5  which is also key in the Department of Health focus,

          6  which we've been putting forth in some way as our

          7  sense of what may make the most sense in terms of

          8  whatever model is developed is looking at overall

          9  prevention of death around the City and program and

         10  policy changes, Citywide or community specific.

         11                 With SIDS, as an example, when we

         12  found that the babies were often in the care of

         13  other caregivers, including grandparents, one of the

         14  recommendations, and the fact that when we did focus

         15  groups to get a further understanding of the number,

         16  we found out that most of the young moms said they

         17  go first to their moms before they ever go to a

         18  doctor for advice.

         19                 We're in the process now of

         20  developing a peer review, peer education program

         21  with grandparents and other caretakers. Basically

         22  that came out of the recommendations of our

         23  committee.

         24                 So, I think that there are gaps, as

         25  has been noted, but the key thing we're all clearly
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          2  concerned about is that we don't replicate existing

          3  efforts, that we don't have to then review cases

          4  already being reviewed and negate the really

          5  intensive work already being done.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So I guess

          7  then my final question would be, have you given any

          8  consideration as to how we address those gaps?

          9  Because I think from a public health perspective,

         10  that's the critical piece, the gap. And until we

         11  come up with the manner of addressing that, you

         12  know, it's very clear that ACS has a very specific

         13  domain, but there are a lot of folks who won't

         14  necessarily come into contact with that domain, so

         15  it leaves it sort of on the office of the medical

         16  examiner in the Department of Health to sort of

         17  reconcile their findings with the impact on

         18  communities and citizens, and then prescribe the

         19  remedies.

         20                 So, I'm concerned about the gap and I

         21  think that's probably what's given rise to the whole

         22  idea of establishing this advisory review.

         23                 Have you given any consideration or

         24  thought to that? And I don't think anyone wants to

         25  duplicate or replicate efforts but to address that
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          2  gap.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: You know,

          4  I don't want to speak for all agencies here, or even

          5  sort of universally for the Health Department, but

          6  my sense is the clearest gap that's visible is

          7  injuries in children over the age of one. And that

          8  there are, within the Department of Health and

          9  Mental Hygiene, within my division, there are injury

         10  epidemiology teams that look at these data in an

         11  aggregate fashion. Again, with existing data, rather

         12  than a more focused review committee approach.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So here is my

         14  next question when you talk about injuries, how do

         15  we then reconcile if these injuries are injuries

         16  that aren't on the state registry but may be as a

         17  result of abuse, if there's a gap there? How do we

         18  do -- how do we do that?

         19                 DR. SMIDDY: Let me speak to that. As

         20  a Medical Examiner, and as a staff member of the

         21  Office of Chief Medical Examiner, and as a

         22  physician, I am mandated by law to report suspected

         23  abuse or neglect, and when I call the State Central

         24  Registry, that sets off a chain of events.

         25                 OCSF is notified, as well as the
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          2  Administration for Children's Services, that

          3  jurisdiction where the child has lived and/or died.

          4                 In the meantime, I'm also obligated

          5  to contact the District Attorney's Office, as well

          6  as collaborate and work directly with the detectives

          7  on the case. So, that's how those cases are handled

          8  in suspected, or actual abuse or neglect.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So,

         10  essentially that information goes to ACS. Does it go

         11  back to the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene

         12  as well?

         13                 DR. SMIDDY: In some of these cases we

         14  are reviewing these particular cases in some of our

         15  panels through the Department of Health.

         16                 As Dr. Thorpe had mentioned, one

         17  particular case may be, will be investigated by our

         18  office, may also be investigated by ACS, and then it

         19  may be discussed as well at one of the infant

         20  fatality review panels through the Department of

         21  Health.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Would every

         23  case that you have done, have examined, have

         24  determined, you know, that this may be an abuse

         25  case, would every single one of those cases, at some
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          2  point would that information get back to the

          3  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE:

          5  Absolutely. Recall that the Department of Health and

          6  Mental Hygiene is the repository for all vital

          7  registration information, so if the cause of death

          8  is identified as an assault, this will be part of

          9  our vital records, it will be part of our vital

         10  statistics analyses and reports.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And so once

         12  you receive that information, are you able to pull

         13  from it if there is a particular environment where

         14  there are many children, and in that particular

         15  environment there have been more than one child

         16  deaths, you would be able to determine that right

         17  away?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: Right

         19  away is a little bit of a relative term, but --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: You know,

         21  within a reasonable amount of time. I don't know,

         22  you know, maybe a year or something like that, you

         23  would be able to determine that?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER THORPE: That's

         25  right. Using aggregate analyses only. Because an
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          2  individual level would not provide that picture.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Right.

          4  Exactly. Exactly.

          5                 DR. SMIDDY: May I speak to that? Our

          6  office would also do an investigation, that's

          7  correct. In collaboration with the detectives on the

          8  case, OCFS, ACS and the State Central Registry. If

          9  there is more than one fatality in the family,

         10  regardless of circumstances, we pay attention to

         11  that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you.

         13                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just want to,

         15  before we go on to our next panel, thank you all for

         16  staying and listening in advance. And also thank ACS

         17  and DOH and the Chief Medical Examiner's Office for

         18  testifying today and also for, you know, giving

         19  thought for how you think the system can be

         20  improved, and we look forward to working with you on

         21  a piece of legislation that will meet the goals that

         22  we've articulated.

         23                 You know, we think that the bill as

         24  is is perfect, of course, but we very much look

         25  forward to moving forward on something that can
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          2  improve the investigation that we do for all

          3  children in this City, and it is not, in any way, an

          4  attempt to duplicate or to say that the work having

          5  been done on the cases at ACS or the ME's office or

          6  the infant mortality is not good work. It is good

          7  work, and in fact it's so good in some cases we want

          8  to make sure all deaths get that same level of

          9  investigation. So, we look forward to working with

         10  you on this as we move forward.

         11                 Thank you. And we're next going to

         12  call up a panel, Bea Hanson from Safe Horizon, Karel

         13  Amaranth from the Child Protection Center at the

         14  Children's Hospital at Montefiore, and Theresa

         15  Covington of The National Center for Child Death

         16  Review. And also Dr. Heiden (phonetic) from Cornell

         17  Medical Center. And he's going first because he has

         18  to go to court at 3:00. Thank you. And just identify

         19  yourself before you testify.

         20                 DR. HEIDEN: Hello. My name is Phillip

         21  Heiden. I'm a pediatrician and a non-practicing

         22  attorney. I'm delighted to be here today to render

         23  testimony to the Health Committee and to Chairperson

         24  Quinn.

         25                 I'm Director of the Child Protection
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          2  Program, and Associate Professor of Pediatrics at

          3  New York Presbyterian Hospital while Cornell Medical

          4  Center.

          5                 I've been invited today to offer my

          6  endorsement of the development of a Child Fatality

          7  Review Team in New York City by the creation of a

          8  law by the City Council.

          9                 I'm very happy to be here to speak on

         10  behalf of many pediatricians in the City who share

         11  my views, including Dr. Jamie Resinfrad (phonetic),

         12  a close colleague who is one of the individuals who

         13  spearheaded this endeavor with Karel Amaranth.

         14                 I'm very excited at the prospect of

         15  development of a multidisciplinary child fatality

         16  review team, having actually been a member at the

         17  Los Angeles County Death Review Team and a current

         18  member of The National Fatality Review Advisory

         19  Board, I consider my time spent in death review to

         20  be some of the most invaluable in my career.

         21                 The Los Angeles Team addressed

         22  unexplained child deaths and offered preventive

         23  forensic and interventive recommendations to the

         24  parties seeking solutions for the difficult fatality

         25  cases.
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          2                 The team was composed of many

          3  individuals, some from the Medical Examiner's Office

          4  where the meetings were held monthly, the Police

          5  Department, the Office of the District Attorney,

          6  representatives from child protective services,

          7  school psychologists, grief counselors, and

          8  pediatricians who had expertise in the field of

          9  child abuse and neglect.

         10                 Statistical data was compiled and

         11  interpreted by the Interagency Council of Abuse and

         12  neglect, with the Child Fatality Review Team headed

         13  by Michael and Deanne Durfy. These individuals were

         14  dedicated colleagues and friends who work together

         15  to better the lives of children in Los Angeles.

         16                 When I returned to New York City, I

         17  was very disappointed that there was no actual

         18  multidisciplinary child fatality review team, and I

         19  have to correct the testimony here, other than the

         20  Accountability Review Team, of which I've actually

         21  sat on one meeting, that worked to prevent childhood

         22  deaths by a review of specific fatalities in the

         23  City.

         24                 I'm delighted to see the evolution of

         25  multiple individuals and agencies as they come to
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          2  recognize the importance of this type of review.

          3                 I believe I speak for everyone when I

          4  say that the purpose of fatality review is to

          5  prevent avoidable mortality and morbidity in

          6  children, and that quality assurance of individual

          7  agencies is not the ultimate objective, something I

          8  feel is implied in the previous testimony.

          9                 I also believe that each individual

         10  on the review team can offer some unique expertise

         11  needed to effectively comprehend the different

         12  components involved in the child's death:

         13                 - the environment.

         14                 - the medical predispositions, which

         15  may be involved and contributing to that death.

         16                 - the events which led up to the

         17  actual fatal incident; and

         18                 - the aftermath. The effects it has

         19  on the surviving members of the family.

         20                 In Los Angeles, the pediatric child

         21  abuse expert's role was utilized to assist the team

         22  when it needed to discuss medical records from the

         23  child's pediatrician or family physician; the

         24  developmental capabilities of that child, which

         25  cannot be as carefully scrutinized by other members
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          2  of the team, the predisposing factors which involve

          3  actual abuse or neglect and grief owned and

          4  expressed by the families.

          5                 As you may know, the American Academy

          6  of Pediatrics of which most pediatricians are

          7  members is the national organization that

          8  establishes standards of practice for all

          9  pediatricians.

         10                 One of its many policy statements

         11  addresses the fatality of children.

         12                 The Pediatrics Journal, of which it

         13  publishes, has also published an article by the

         14  Arizona State Fatality Review documenting its

         15  ability to recognize preventable child deaths. I do

         16  not have a copy of that with me, but I'll be happy

         17  to forward it to the Health Committee.

         18                 The following are objectives

         19  established by the American Academy of Pediatrics,

         20  and I have distributed copies to you from their

         21  article.

         22                 1) Pediatricians advocate for proper

         23  death certification for children. Certification is

         24  not possible in sudden unexpected deaths in the

         25  absence of a comprehensive death investigation,
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          2  completing scene investigation, autopsy, and review

          3  of all previous medical records.

          4                 2) Individual pediatricians and those

          5  working through the American Academy of Pediatric

          6  Chapters, support State legislation that requires

          7  autopsies of all deaths of children younger than 18

          8  years that result from trauma, that are unexpected,

          9  including SIDS, and that are suspicious, obscure,

         10  otherwise unexplained.

         11                 These same guidelines about

         12  unexplained death should apply to all children, even

         13  those with chronic diseases.

         14                 3) Individual pediatricians and those

         15  working through the American Academy of Pediatric

         16  Chapters advocate for and support State legislation

         17  and other efforts that establish comprehensive

         18  childhood death investigation and review systems at

         19  the local and state levels.

         20                 4) Pediatricians accept the

         21  responsibility to be involved with the death review

         22  process, including serving as a member of a review

         23  team, providing information from case files to the

         24  Medical Examiner, or other agency investigating the

         25  death of a child who was a patient, or by serving as
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          2  a consultant to the Child Fatality Team on medical

          3  issues that need clarification.

          4                 5) Pediatricians assist local public

          5  health medical society and other interested groups

          6  to become involved with the child death review

          7  process.

          8                 6) Pediatricians become involved in

          9  the training of death scene investigators so that

         10  appropriate knowledge of issues such as sudden

         11  infant death syndrome, child abuse, child

         12  development and pediatric disease is used in the

         13  determination of the cause of death.

         14                 7) Policy initiatives directed at

         15  preventing childhood deaths, based on information

         16  acquired at the local and state level from adequate

         17  death investigations, accurate death certifications,

         18  systematic death reviews be supported at the

         19  national and chapter level.

         20                 8) The following recommendations

         21  pertaining to the investigation and review of child

         22  deaths published by the US Advisory Board on Child

         23  Abuse and Neglect should be supported.

         24                 "The supply of professionals

         25  qualified to identify and investigate child abuse

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  and neglect fatalities should be increased."

          3                 "There must be a major enhancement of

          4  joint training by government agencies and

          5  professional organizations on the identification and

          6  investigation of serious and fatal child abuse and

          7  neglect."

          8                 "States, military branches and Indian

          9  nations should implement joint criminal

         10  investigation teams in cases of fatal child abuse

         11  and neglect."

         12                 "The secretary of Health and Human

         13  Services and the United States Attorney General

         14  should work together to assure there is an ongoing

         15  national focus on fatal child abuse and neglect to

         16  oversee an ongoing process to support the national

         17  system of local, state and federal child abuse and

         18  neglect fatality review effort."

         19                 And a final quote, "Child death

         20  review team should be established at the local,

         21  regional level within states."

         22                 Presently there is no child fatality

         23  review team that is supported or over-viewed by the

         24  National Child Fatality Review Advisory Board in New

         25  York City.
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          2                 In closing, I would like to thank you

          3  for allowing me to express the wishes of many

          4  pediatricians who, like myself, have confidence,

          5  that New York City is moving forward to alleviate

          6  the needless deaths which occur, despite our present

          7  efforts to prevent them. We will work with you to

          8  achieve this goal. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Whatever order you

         10  guys want to go in is fine.

         11                 MS. HANSON: Good afternoon. I would

         12  like to thank Chairperson Christine Quinn for

         13  inviting us to testify today. My name is Bea Hanson,

         14  and I am the Chief Program Officer of Safe Horizon,

         15  the Nation's largest victim assistance and advocacy

         16  organization.

         17                 Each year we serve more than 350,000

         18  New Yorkers who have experienced a wide range of

         19  victimization and violence in their lives, including

         20  domestic violence, rape and sexual assault,

         21  homicide, trafficking, stalking and child physical

         22  and sexual abuse.

         23                 The death of a child is always a

         24  tragedy, even know infant mortality rates in New

         25  York City have decreased dramatically during the
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          2  past decade, partly as a result of better

          3  enforcement of such initiatives as safe seat belt

          4  laws, smoke detector laws, and the provision of

          5  better access to prenatal care, we continue to see

          6  preventable deaths of children.

          7                 Given our history and range of

          8  services, Safe Horizon is uniquely positioned to

          9  provide assistance in situations of child trauma,

         10  and in the most extreme cases, death, as a result of

         11  physical or sexual abuse.

         12                 In 1996, we established our first

         13  child advocacy center in Brooklyn to help abused

         14  children in that borough. The center which provides

         15  for our two additional facilities in Queens and

         16  Staten Island co-locate the multidisciplinary team

         17  from Safe Horizon, the Administration for Children's

         18  Services, the New York City Police Department, and

         19  the District Attorney's Office, as well as medical

         20  personnel.

         21                 Being intimately familiar with the

         22  effectiveness of the multidisciplinary team

         23  approach, we are very much encouraged by the

         24  Council's interest in considering Intro. 480, which

         25  would amend the Administrative Code of New York City
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          2  to create a multi-agency and multidisciplinary child

          3  fatality advisory team to review the facts and

          4  circumstances related to the deaths of all children

          5  in New York City.

          6                 We support the concept of a child

          7  fatality review team, and would make a couple of

          8  points related to the specific aspects of Intro.

          9  480.

         10                 First, the legislation proposes two

         11  alternative approaches based on whether or not the

         12  New York State Office of Children and Family

         13  Services approves the establishment of a child

         14  fatality review team.

         15                 Safe Horizon strongly believes that

         16  the team should be charged with investigating those

         17  deaths of children whose care and custody or custody

         18  and guardianship has been transferred to an

         19  authorized agency defined in Section 371.10 of the

         20  Social Services Law, and deaths of children whose

         21  deaths were reported to the statewide central

         22  register of child abuse and maltreatment, which

         23  requires OCFS approval.

         24                 Secondly, we want to support the

         25  focus of the Child Fatality Review Team as the
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          2  review of cases to prevent further fatalities and to

          3  determine any pattern and make systemic changes that

          4  positively impact this pattern rather than hindsight

          5  comments on the anomalies of individual cases, which

          6  Dr. Heiden referred to as well.

          7                 The multidisciplinary team approach

          8  ought to be premised on the clear consensus that the

          9  sharing of different perspectives and knowledge,

         10  without any other particular agenda other than fact

         11  finding and prevention, will enhance the quality of

         12  investigations.

         13                 Safe Horizon and its Child Advocacy

         14  Centers would like to play an active role in the

         15  implementation of any child fatality review team or

         16  teams. We already have many of the relevant players

         17  at our table and are uniquely positioned to host the

         18  review team meetings, provide child advocacy and

         19  facilitate the process in any way we can. Overall,

         20  the objectives of the review team ought to be the

         21  following:

         22                 - ensure accurate identification and

         23  consistent reporting of the cause and manner of

         24  death.

         25                 - improve communications and linkages
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          2  among agencies.

          3                 - improve agency responses in the

          4  investigations.

          5                 - improve criminal investigations and

          6  prosecution.

          7                 - protect siblings and other children

          8  in the homes of deceased children.

          9                 - improve delivery of services to the

         10  affected families.

         11                 - identify systemic factors related

         12  to child fatalities.

         13                 - increase public awareness on the

         14  issues related to children's safety; and

         15                 - advocate for needed changes in

         16  legislation, policy and practices.

         17                 Safe Horizon thanks the Committee for

         18  calling us to testify today. We share in the spirit

         19  of the proposed legislation the concern to create a

         20  truly multidisciplinary effort that can more

         21  effectively identify preventable social and family

         22  circumstances that contribute to child fatalities.

         23  An unexplainable death of a child is truly a

         24  tragedy, not only for the affected family, but for

         25  all of us in the community as well.
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          2                 Thank you for allowing me to testify.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

          4  much, Doctor. Thank you.

          5                 MS. AMARANTH: Hello. I'm Karel

          6  Amaranth. I'm the Executive Director of the Child

          7  Protection Center at the Children's Hospital at

          8  Montefiore. We're the only fully accredited child

          9  advocacy center in the Bronx.

         10                 Committee Chair Quinn, members of the

         11  City Council, colleagues and guests at this hearing,

         12  on December 27th, 2004, we all awoke to the

         13  horrifying news of the Sunami that hit Southeast

         14  Asia. The massive death toll only grew more tragic

         15  and horrendous as the news arrived on subsequent

         16  days of the week. More than 150,000 deaths, over

         17  one-third of them children. None of us can forget

         18  the television coverage, the pages and pages of

         19  newspaper articles, and photographs of beaches and

         20  makeshift morgues filled with bodies, especially the

         21  tiny ones, wrapped in shrouds.

         22                 In the past three weeks, we have read

         23  and listened to the analysis of the catastrophe that

         24  caused these deaths. The scraping of the Taconic

         25  plates, the massive shift of water producing a wall
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          2  of waves that swallowed the land. An analysis, too,

          3  of how the massive loss of life could have been

          4  prevented. The experts in geology communication,

          5  government, the media, public health, education and

          6  so many more coming together with ideas, strategies,

          7  to prevent so many deaths in the future.

          8                 On Saturday, January 15th, there was

          9  coverage of another tragedy. It was on page B 5. The

         10  Metro Section of the New York Times.  The article

         11  was about one-fifth of one of the six columns, so

         12  about one-thirtieth of a page. The tragedy was the

         13  death of an abandoned infant on a street in the

         14  Bronx. He was wrapped in towels and a bag, left six

         15  blocks from St. Barnabus Hospital, a place where the

         16  baby could have been safely left, no questions

         17  asked, based on the New York State Abandoned Infant

         18  Protection Act.

         19                 The tragedy is that this baby boy who

         20  had a family, who had a future, who had a community,

         21  and who had talents and skills that will never be

         22  developed to contribute to the world, died

         23  needlessly. His death clearly preventable. And this

         24  tragedy, and the tragedy is that this will happen to

         25  other babies.
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          2                 Just as the experts have come

          3  together to address ways of preventing massive

          4  deaths in the event of another Sunami, we must bring

          5  experts together to prevent child deaths in New York

          6  City.

          7                 We have been grateful for the

          8  commendable work of the Administration for

          9  Children's Services' internal review of the deaths

         10  of children, who have been known to the ACS system

         11  of services, and also the work of the Fetal Infant

         12  Mortality Reviews. With this model, we need to move

         13  forward with a full child death review team to

         14  review each child death to assure that any measures

         15  to prevent a similar death are acted upon.

         16                 We must bring all of the experts to

         17  the table, so that any contributing factor to a

         18  child's death can be revealed and addressed.

         19                 Almost 1,300 children, ages one to

         20  nine, die in New York City. More than one-tenth of

         21  these children die from accidents, more than

         22  one-tenth die from homicides and suicides, but

         23  please do not allow the large number of these

         24  deaths, the breakdown into percentages, to obscure

         25  the tragedy of each individual death.
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          2                 One child died in a motor vehicle

          3  crash when the driver was drunk. One child died from

          4  burns because the bathwater was too hot. One child

          5  died after being shaken during an incident of

          6  domestic violence. One child died from an overdose

          7  of methadone he took out of the refrigerator. One

          8  child died from being struck with a blunt object.

          9  These deaths and all of the other individual deaths

         10  add up to annual statistics, but each death is as

         11  unique an individual as the child who was lost to

         12  that death. And we as the advocates and experts owe

         13  it to each one of these children to fully examine

         14  and understand and grieve over the elements of this

         15  child's life that resulted in their death.

         16                 As Terry Covington has stated, the

         17  death of a child is a community problem. The death

         18  of a child is too multidimensional a responsibility

         19  to belong in any one place. The death of a child is

         20  a sentinel event and can be a marker in a community

         21  of health and safety of children.

         22                 The proposed legislation will bring

         23  together the experts to help all of us gain that

         24  understanding and to honor each child who has died

         25  with the commitment that we will do everything
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          2  possible to prevent another child from dying of

          3  these same causes.

          4                 This may seem arduous, this may seem

          5  risky, this may seem like an intrusion into our own

          6  professional world, but isn't the potential of

          7  saving the life of even one child worth that

          8  commitment?

          9                 Over the reception desk of the New

         10  York City Chief Medical Examiner's Office is a

         11  lengthy quote in Latin. The translation of the final

         12  phrase is "This is the place where death delights to

         13  serve the living." The death of each child is

         14  tragic, and it's multitude of impacts on family,

         15  friends, the community, the loss of that child's

         16  future and relationships and accomplishments. Only

         17  by understanding that death in its complexity, by

         18  evaluation by a multidisciplinary team, a child

         19  death review team, can we prevent these tragic

         20  losses to all of us, and the prevention of these

         21  deaths will not just yield lower death statistics,

         22  will not just help us write better reports, will not

         23  and should not serve any political agenda, but will

         24  result in the saving of lives of children, real

         25  children, who laugh and learn and play and grow, and
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          2  that indeed will be delightful.

          3                 Thank you very much for your

          4  attention.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Go ahead.

          6                 MS. COVINGTON: (Microphone is not

          7  turned on.)

          8  Well, I'm the outsider who is not from New York

          9  City.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Great.

         11                 MS. COVINGTON: Thank you all for the

         12  opportunity to be here and present my thoughts.

         13                 My name is Terry Covington. I'm the

         14  Director of the National Center for Child Death

         15  Review, which is funded by the U.S. Department of

         16  Health, Child Health Bureau. We were funded three

         17  years ago as part of a federal initiative to try to

         18  build the capacity of child death review into a

         19  prevention-focused model that would expand reviews

         20  of child abuse, death and all preventable deaths.

         21                 I also come from Michigan, which

         22  ironically has about 9 million people, which is

         23  similar to New York City, so I'm listening and

         24  wrestling with the models that might work for New

         25  York City because I think you have a challenge ahead
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          2  of you.

          3                 And I ran the Michigan Child Death

          4  Review Program for about eight years.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I don't think

          6  her mike is on.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Terry, is the

          8  light off? If the light is off, it means the mic is

          9  on.

         10                 MS. COVINGTON: Now?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes.

         12                 MS. COVINGTON: Is it working?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes.

         14                 MS. COVINGTON: I don't have to start

         15  over, do I?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: No, no.

         17                 MS. COVINGTON: Okay.

         18                 I've been, as part of my job with the

         19  Center, tracking fatality review programs across the

         20  US, and every state current has child death review,

         21  except Idaho. I mean, to the best of my knowledge,

         22  New York City and Miami are the only two major

         23  cities without a fatality review program that looks

         24  at all deaths to children, or at least all

         25  preventable deaths up to the age 18. So, there was a
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          2  question asked about that.

          3                 The other thing is that the Centers

          4  for Disease Control is getting ready to adopt a new

          5  expanded objective to the healthy people on 2010

          6  that's going to read they would like all states in

          7  the US, and the District of Columbia, to review all

          8  deaths of children due to injuries through age 14,

          9  and that should come into play probably within the

         10  next month and a half. So, it gives also a sort of a

         11  benchmark that we can all work for.

         12                 And we currently, to do that, we had

         13  to survey the states. And what surprised us was 37

         14  of the states, we heard from all 50 of the states,

         15  but 37 of the states are currently reviewing all

         16  deaths to age, are currently reviewing deaths up to

         17  age 18, and 37 of those states are reviewing all

         18  injuries, homicides, suicides, accidents and

         19  undetermined deaths.

         20                 I also think that your proposed

         21  legislation really builds on the existing review

         22  programs that you currently have in the Department

         23  of Health and ACS, and I really think that their

         24  experience is in reviewing child abuse deaths and

         25  infant mortality deaths can be really helpful as you
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          2  work to expand this.

          3                 As you probably know, child death

          4  review has really evolved over the past ten years.

          5  It used to be a process that only focused on the

          6  investigation and the agency response to child abuse

          7  and neglect, and I think sometimes we get stuck

          8  there.

          9                 It really is and has become a process

         10  that is now prevention focused. It really looks

         11  forward rather than backward trying to look for

         12  agency blame, and it's not really an investigative

         13  model. It's not trying to do the investigative work

         14  that should already be done on a case, but it can be

         15  used to improve investigative systems. But the

         16  review itself shouldn't be looked at as a tool to go

         17  back and investigate an individual death.

         18                 When the process really works is

         19  because you're bringing people together from many

         20  different disciplines that have in some way, shape

         21  or form responsibility for caring and protecting for

         22  the health and safety of children.

         23                 Communities that have well-managed,

         24  multidisciplinary review teams have been remarkably

         25  effective, and I can be here all day giving you
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          2  examples of how people have turned their reviews and

          3  their sharing of the circumstances of deaths into

          4  very action-oriented outcomes, and I think the

          5  Department of Health even mentioned some of the work

          6  they were doing based on their SIDS findings, and

          7  that's exactly what you want to have happen to child

          8  death review.

          9                 The findings have been used

         10  nationwide to improve child death investigations,

         11  services to families, agency practices, but most

         12  importantly by sharing their knowledge on the

         13  circumstances leading to a death, team members from

         14  across communities have been able to identify the

         15  hazards that put children in harm's way, and by

         16  understanding what those hazards are, sometimes

         17  they're hazards that would not be obvious and

         18  apparent to us. It's understanding that allows

         19  people to take action to eliminate those hazards.

         20                 Sometimes teams do that by reviewing

         21  deaths in clusters, and sometimes teams do that best

         22  by reviewing deaths one by one by one.

         23                 I think the process that's currently

         24  in place at the Department of Health for infant zero

         25  to one is a laudable process and could be a model
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          2  for your ages one to 18. But I really think

          3  sometimes you have to have the individual stories

          4  and the individual cases brought to the table.

          5                 In reading your proposed legislation,

          6  I have a few comments to make, and I hope you don't

          7  find me to be too pertinent in making some

          8  suggestions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We appreciate it.

         10  Suggest away.

         11                 MS. COVINGTON: By the way, there is

         12  42 states across the country that have legislation

         13  in place for child death review, but I know of no

         14  other municipality or City that has its own

         15  legislation. And I don't believe New York City

         16  currently has what we consider a full-scale child

         17  death review legislation.

         18                 I applaud that your focus is on all

         19  deaths ages zero to 18, and I think it may be

         20  difficult, if not impossible, to do a comprehensive

         21  review of your 1,300 deaths, but there are a number

         22  of models out there in large cities that I think you

         23  could look at and you'll need to look at. But at a

         24  minimum, I would really encourage you to look at the

         25  homicides and suicides, accidents, SIDS and
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          2  preventable natural deaths, such as asthma and

          3  infectious diseases.

          4                 There has been some mention of

          5  aggregate death, and I think that's a really useful

          6  tool, but I think you have to be careful to know

          7  that the death certificate in and of itself won't

          8  tell the whole story. But the stories have to be

          9  told by bringing people together.

         10                 I think that your bill really makes

         11  mention of the fact that the focus is on prevention,

         12  and I think that's excellent.

         13                 I think you have to be cautioned that

         14  review teams should not be construed to be

         15  independent investigative bodies, and that the focus

         16  has to be looking forwards.

         17                 I think your list of team memberships

         18  reflects the best practice models that are out

         19  there, you had a lot of designees, and I think you

         20  need to make sure those are people that can speak

         21  for the agencies.

         22                 I would consider expanding the

         23  minimum risk to include people from emergency

         24  medical services, other pediatricians and health

         25  care workers, and experts in the injury field.
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          2                 Your law somewhat addresses team

          3  access to information, but I think it needs to be

          4  clearer what records can be accessed, and provide

          5  legislative authority for teams of people to be able

          6  to access those records, otherwise I think you're

          7  going to limit the confidential exchange of

          8  information at the review meeting and it will be a

          9  stumbling block, based on my experience with other

         10  teams around the country. There won't be good

         11  discussion if people don't feel comfortable sharing

         12  information.

         13                 The other part that the law doesn't

         14  address is it didn't seem to get to once you have

         15  that information what can be done with it.

         16                 And I think you need to worry about

         17  FOIA and open meetings acts and what have you,

         18  because it's never mentioned in there in terms of

         19  protecting the confidentiality of the meeting

         20  itself.

         21                 In the spirit of your legislation, I

         22  urge you to make sure that your CFR advisory team

         23  does not become an arena for political agendas.

         24                 My experience with other CFR programs

         25  around the country is that when teams begin to
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          2  politicize the death of children, it becomes the

          3  death knell of an effective review process and

          4  persons will not continue to participate.

          5                 And, finally, your legislation

          6  requires an annual report, and I would urge you to

          7  develop a mechanism in legislative mandate on what

          8  to do with that to report and to ensure that the

          9  appropriate recommendations are acted upon, or that

         10  a vehicle is in place so that people can review and

         11  make decisions on the recommendations.

         12                 And then our center provides a no

         13  cost. Web-based reporting system, training technical

         14  assistance and print and electronic resources, and

         15  we're happy to share those with you. That's what

         16  we're here for.

         17                 However, I don't think there is any

         18  question that some financial support is going to be

         19  necessary to coordinate this review process.

         20                 So, those are my suggestions. And,

         21  finally, just from a, sort of a more personal

         22  approach with child death review, I've always been

         23  struggling to think of a metaphor for what child

         24  fatality review is and can be for communities. I

         25  haven't personally been able to do that very well.
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          2  But I had a visitor from New Zealand come this

          3  summer at a meeting that Karel was at and she told

          4  us a story of what they've done with the child

          5  fatality review process in New Zealand. They gave it

          6  a term which is coca wori fluco parini (phonetic),

          7  and it's a maury term, I know, it doesn't sound very

          8  interesting, but it's a maury term and it combines

          9  two words, and that term is the name of a maury

         10  elder in the old days who would roam the village at

         11  night along the seashore making sure that the

         12  village was okay for the evening to come, and they

         13  would make sure that the canoes were tied up, the

         14  chickens were roosted, the teens were where they

         15  were supposed to be, and they really made the

         16  village safe for evening. And they felt that that

         17  person represents what child death review is, which

         18  is trying to make your community safe, especially by

         19  looking at the stories of these children before they

         20  themselves move into the sunset or before their

         21  deaths no longer are memorialized by any of us, and

         22  I really think that that best defines what child

         23  fatality review is. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. Thank

         25  you all.
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          2                 A couple of questions. Terry, tell me

          3  a little bit about what, when you say that the teams

          4  should politicize death, tell me what do you mean by

          5  that? Like go out and have a press conference on

          6  that particular case?

          7                 MS. COVINGTON: That would be an

          8  example. Or use a specific case review to blast an

          9  agency or to find fault with an agency, or to say,

         10  you know, we discovered a case where Department of

         11  Health really screwed up on this case. I mean, as

         12  soon as you start doing that it becomes dangerous.

         13                 Or to use the findings for political

         14  gain, where certain members will use their

         15  participation on a review team really to try to gain

         16  political favors.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: The issue of

         18  confidentiality, where you talked about, you know,

         19  having access to information, it sounds like you

         20  would balance the issue of having full access to

         21  information by having some limit, the open meetings

         22  or things like that of the board. So you would err

         23  on the side of keeping the board's, the team's

         24  actions, not confidential but along those lines, as

         25  opposed to keeping part of the information away from
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          2  the members; is that right?

          3                 MS. COVINGTON: Right. I would opt for

          4  the actual case reviews themselves to be

          5  confidential. With, you know, findings being made

          6  public, that would be de-case identified. But if

          7  there's any case-specific discussion, I think it

          8  would have to be confidential or you can't really

          9  share information.

         10                 The Medical Examiner made a good case

         11  in point that their records aren't public records,

         12  and if the reviews are open to the public, you're

         13  going to lose all of that information.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What are other

         15  good models that you've seen, other particular

         16  places, that we should look for a City model, that

         17  would be most adaptable and most effective?

         18                 MS. AMARANTH: I was able to visit the

         19  team in Philadelphia, and while they certainly

         20  review for fewer cases than we would have, it was a

         21  very impressive team, I mean really everyone

         22  represented at the table. Everyone feeling as though

         23  they could speak very freely and bring information

         24  about this child, their family, their records to the

         25  table and share very openly without some sense of
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          2  criticism or being attacked by other people.

          3                 I have to say the Medical Examiner

          4  was so open and interested in other people's

          5  comments on the child deaths and cause and manner,

          6  and if they had any other input. It was a very

          7  collegial spirit. As well as, you know, again, as

          8  Terry talked about, very much sub-rosa, everyone, I

          9  mean as a guest I had to sign a confidentiality

         10  statement, so they're very careful to make sure that

         11  what is discussed in that room stays in that room,

         12  the specifics, and that what is learned about the

         13  deaths is what is put together then in prevention

         14  reports and prevention activities, but that the

         15  specifics stay there.

         16                 MS. HANSON: I'd just like to add, I

         17  think the Child Advocacy Center is also, as

         18  multidisciplinary teams present, a good model, and

         19  the focus of those are really around investigation

         20  of child physical and sexual abuse, but I think is a

         21  good model because we've got teams together of the

         22  Police Department, the District Attorneys, children

         23  services and social service providers to look at

         24  some of the confidentiality issues, some of the

         25  dynamics. So, I think that's a good model, but from
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          2  the forensic side.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What would be the

          4  cost generally of those teams, do you know? The cost

          5  of the work at your center, just to give us a sense,

          6  frame of reference.

          7                 MS. HANSON: It's hard. It depends if

          8  you have to pay rent or not.

          9                 I would have to get back to you with

         10  specific numbers because I don't want to throw out

         11  --

         12                 MS. AMARANTH: I can tell you. I mean,

         13  the budget for our child advocacy center is about $2

         14  million a year, but we do much more than review

         15  cases. I mean, we provide a medical for every child,

         16  we do a case history with the family, we do a

         17  forensic interview. We provide counseling services

         18  afterwards. So they're very comprehensive service

         19  models, as well as the review team.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Terry, do you have

         21  any sense of what the teams themselves have cost?

         22                 MS. COVINGTON: Yes. Well, I know from

         23  a -- nationwide the average cost per state is about

         24  100 -- well, the average budget per state is about

         25  $125,000. Some states are getting $500,000. Our
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          2  State, Michigan, gets $500,000 a year. We do a lot

          3  of training and technical assistance, and we have

          4  folks out in all the counties. So, that's a

          5  different piece.

          6                 But the state level teams run about

          7  125,000, and that pays for a coordinator. It pays

          8  for someone who pulls all the cases together,

          9  probably similar to your case abstract at the Health

         10  Department who did all that work on the SIDS cases

         11  in the infant deaths, and gets the cases ready for

         12  the meetings, that's really where your time is going

         13  to come in.

         14                 Nationally there's only four states

         15  that even fund local review teams, and they're

         16  funded a few thousand dollars. Because of the review

         17  participation is, in every case that I can think of,

         18  is voluntary. I don't know of any case where people

         19  are actually paid to come to the review meetings.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Terry, you

         21  commented, gave some of your thoughts on the

         22  discussion we were having with the agencies about

         23  aggregate review. I wonder if you have anything to

         24  add? If one of you guys can give us your perspective

         25  on that, as well.
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          2                 MS. COVINGTON: Well, I'm a public

          3  health person, so I think public health epidemiology

          4  is real important. And I think aggregated trend data

          5  is really, really important.

          6                 Where I've seen it work the best is

          7  when it balances or when the stories balance the

          8  data or when the data -- you know, it works both

          9  ways.

         10                 When I have seen states that have had

         11  the most effect in making a difference with the

         12  recommendations and having the most outcomes because

         13  of their reviews, it's when they've been able to

         14  bring the stories of the children that they reviewed

         15  from the agency's perspectives, and all the people

         16  at the table being, really buying into those reviews

         17  and the outcomes that they've come up with, then

         18  their recommendations, and then balancing that, or

         19  bringing along with that the epidemiology on the

         20  morbidity. Because, you know, the death of the child

         21  is just the tip of the iceberg. You've got all these

         22  other kids that are getting injured often times from

         23  the same things, so when you bring that data along

         24  with some of the data related to geography, where

         25  the kids are dying, which kids are most at risk, and
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          2  why, and some of their family circumstances, you

          3  become, you have a much more powerful set of

          4  recommendations.

          5                 The best annual reports that I've

          6  seen lend mortality data, aggregated data, with the

          7  stories themselves.

          8                 MS. HANSON: I think I agree with what

          9  Terry is saying. I think aggregated, I think the

         10  concern comes into something that Terry was talking

         11  about before and I mentioned a little bit about how

         12  we utilize individual cases. I think the concern is

         13  having individual cases somehow -- one death that

         14  seems horrendous in some horrible way, the

         15  circumstances of one applying to a whole number of

         16  them, that might not necessarily be the case. So, I

         17  think the combining of the aggregate with the

         18  individual, I think is key, if it's within the

         19  context of some sort of preservation of

         20  confidentiality, and I think that the point that

         21  Terry was making around confidentiality within that

         22  room needs to be key.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just for argument

         24  sake, if the teams were created -- a team was

         25  created in New York City and we didn't get the State
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          2  approval to look at cases which involved authorized

          3  agencies, how effective do you think that would be?

          4  Do you think it would be worth pursuing in your

          5  perspective?

          6                 MS. COVINGTON: Well, I think you'll

          7  find -- I was just the principal investigator on a

          8  CVC-funded study called "Child Maltreatment

          9  Surveillance," and we were one of five states that

         10  were funded to identify, to develop a better

         11  surveillance system, a public health surveillance

         12  system, to identify child maltreatment deaths.

         13                 We were really surprised at year's

         14  end, or at the end of our three years -- annually

         15  our death certificates identified about 16 kids that

         16  were victims of abuse and neglect that came off of

         17  our death certificates. Our state system of kids

         18  that were actually in the system, we had about 24,

         19  25 kids, but when we were done blending child death

         20  review, which ended up being the best reporter, the

         21  best source of identifying those cases, death

         22  certificate data, and part of our social services,

         23  central registry cases, we ended up with over a

         24  hundred cases of kids that died of abuse and

         25  neglect.
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          2                 So, I think you might lose something

          3  by not having those kids, but you're going to find a

          4  lot of other kids where you're going to be able to

          5  make a difference.

          6                 And most of the cases we found

          7  weren't physical abuse, they were really, really

          8  egregious incidences of neglect. And we had a pretty

          9  tough line that you had to cross to get into that

         10  category. And they weren't kids that were known to

         11  the system.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I think that's all

         13  the questions we had. Thank you, all, very much for

         14  your testimony and your work on this bill, and your

         15  work in general. We very much appreciate it. And

         16  this hearing is adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 3:15 p.m.)
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